NO. 2009-CA-00608-COA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMERICAN PUBLIC FINANCE, INC., APPELLANT

v.

LLOYD A. SMITH, APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT ENTERED IN THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY FIRST DISTRICT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

James Eldred Renfroe, Esq. (MSB

Counsel for Appellant Roy S. Perilloux, Esq. (MSB

648 Lakeland East, Ste. A Biloxi, MS 39530 Flowood, MS 39232 Phone: 601-932-1611

T. Mitchell Kalom, Esq. (MSB Counsel for Appellant Kalom Law Firm, PLLC 971 Division Street

Phone: 228-436-4444

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

NO. 2009-CA-00608-COA IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Chancery Court erred in refusing to join appellant American Public Finance, Inc. (hereinafter, "APF") as a necessary party, pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 19, in the civil action by appellee Lloyd A. Smith (hereinafter, "Smith") to quiet title and tax title to the subject property, where APF acquired title to the subject property after the action had been commenced by deed from Deep Woods Investment Co., LLC (hereinafter, "Deep Woods"), the prior owner named as a defendant in Smith's complaint.
- 2. Whether the Chancery Court erred in refusing to grant APF relief, pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 60(b), by setting aside the judgment entered in favor of Smith.
- 3. Whether the Chancery Court erred in applying the doctrine of bona fide purchaser for value as the basis for its ruling that APF was not entitled to be joined as a party and not entitled to have the judgment in favor of Smith set aside.
- 4. Whether the Chancery Court erred in giving undue weight to one of the principals of APF being an attorney.
- 5. Whether the Chancery Court erred by failing to give proper weight to Smith's failure to record a notice of lis pendens, and by failing to follow the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-17-29.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 1

This case proceeded in two separate phases in the Chancery Court: first, the entry of the default judgment in favor of Smith; and second, APF's motion to join as a party and set aside the judgment, which led to the Chancery Court's Order Denying Motion To Add Third Party (hereinafter, the "Order") that is the subject of this appeal [Order, R.171-178. RE.5-12].

1. Entry of default judgment

On May 24, 2007, Lloyd A. Smith ("Smith") filed a complaint (hereinafter, the "Complaint" [R.1-8, RE. 13-20]) in the Chancery Court of Harrison County commencing an action to confirm and quiet title and tax title with respect to a parcel of real estate consisting of approximately 22.6 acres located in Harrison County (hereinafter, the "subject property"). Deep Woods, as the last previous owner of the subject property, was named as one of the defendants. [Complaint, ¶2(a),¶8(q), R.2,5, RE.14,17.] The Complaint alleges that Smith acquired title to

In this brief, items in the Record and in the Record Excerpts are identified with a brief description (e.g., "Complaint") and with the notation "R.#" and "RE.#" referring to the page number of the Record and the Record Excerpts. References to the transcript are identified by reference to the Record Excerpts and by the notation "Tr.#, line(s) #", referring to the page number of the transcript and the line number on that page.

The subject property is fully described in the Complaint, in the first of the paragraphs numbered "2". [Complaint, $\P2$, R.1-2, RE.13-14.]

the subject property on March 16, 2006, by deed from Suresh Shah, and that Suresh Shah had acquired title to the subject property on October 20, 2005 by a tax deed from the Chancery Clerk of Harrison County. [Complaint, ¶¶8(t),8(u),and 9, R.5,6, RE.17,18.]

Based on the testimony of a witness, the Chancery Court found that Smith did not file a notice of lis pendens in the Land Records of the Harrison County Chancery Clerk giving notice of his civil action to quiet title. [Order, ¶¶10 and 11, R.175-176, RE.9-10; Tr.44, lines 10-18, RE.88.]³

Pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 4(h), service of the summons and the complaint on Deep Woods was required to be accomplished on or before September 23, 2007, the date one hundred twenty days from May 24, 2007. Prior to that date, on August, 13, 2007, Deep Woods conveyed the subject property to APF without knowledge of Smith's civil action, since service of process on Deep Woods had not yet been made. [Quitclaim Deed, R.79, RE.24-28.]

After the conveyance to APF, on September 18, 2007, the Chancery Court entered an order enlarging time for service on

APF offered its title search of the subject property into evidence [Tr. 42, lines 2-7; RE.86], but the Chancery Court refused to admit the title search into evidence on the ground that it was not introduced. [Order, fn. 2, R.173, RE.7.] A copy of the title search is in the record and marked as Exhibit 2 to the transcript [see RE.91-92].

Deep Woods [Order Allowing Additional Time, R.16, RE.29], and on October 10, 2007, Deep Woods was served with a copy of the summons and complaint by service on its registered agent, Hardy McInnis. [Return, R.23, RE.30.] However, on the date of service, Deep Woods had no interest in the subject property due to its conveyance to APF on August 13, 2007. Deep Woods never filed a responsive pleading in opposition to the complaint.⁴

On December 4, 2007, Smith applied to the Chancery Court for entry of a default against defendant Deep Woods and against defendant Wolf Run, and the clerk entered a default on December 5, 2007. [Application for default, R.27, RE.31; Affidavit, R.25-26, RE.32-33; Default, R.24, RE.34.] On January 8, 2008, Smith filed a motion requesting entry of judgment on the pleadings, and on the same day the Chancery Court entered final judgment quieting title and tax title in favor of Smith. [Motion for judgment, R.28-31, RE.35-38; Final Judgment, R.32-38, RE.39-45.] APF was not named or referred to in Smith's application for default, in Smith's supporting affidavit, in the Clerk's entry of default, in Smith's motion for judgment on the pleadings, or in the final judgment.

The absence of any responsive pleading by Deep Woods is shown by the Chancery Court Docket [unnumbered pages at front of Record, and RE.1-4] Two defendants (Suresh Shah and Dennis Joslin) filed waivers of process on June 14 and July 16, 2007. [Waivers, R.12, RE.15.] ARF, LLC d/b/a Wolf Run (hereinafter, "Wolf Run"), the remaining defendant, was served through the Mississippi Secretary of State. [Notice of Service, R.20.]

2. APF's Motion To Join As A Party And Set Aside The Judgment.

On April 17, 2008, APF filed a motion seeking to be added as a party to the action (hereinafter, "APF's Motion"). APF's Motion also requested relief from the judgment, and asserted various claims and defenses. [APF's Motion, R.39-52, RE.46-59.] In support of its motion, APF attached thereto as Exhibit "I" a copy of the Quitclaim Deed And Assignment conveying title to the subject property from Deep Woods to APF as of August 13, 2007. [APF's Motion, Ex. I, R.79, RE.60-64.]

On June 3, 2008, Smith filed a response in opposition to APF's Motion. [Smith's Response, R.80-94, RE.65-79.]⁶ On November 7, 2008, the Chancery Court conducted a hearing on APF's Motion and Smith's Opposition. On March 18, 2009, the Chancery Court entered an order overruling APF's Motion, and specifically denying both APF's request to be added as a party to the action and APF's request to set aside the default and the judgment in favor of Smith. [Order, R.171-178, RE.50-12.]

On April 10, 2009, APF filed a timely notice of appeal from the Chancery Court's order. [Notice of Appeal, R.179.]

The Record Excerpts includes a copy of the Quitclaim Deed And Assignment, but does not include the other exhibits to APF's Motion.

The Resorber Hugger Hugg

STATEMENT OF FACTS

APF agrees with the Chancery Court's statement that "None of the facts in this matter are contested" [Order, R.172, RE.6], to the extent that those facts concern the chronological history of the transfer of ownership of the subject property. The facts found by the Chancery Court, as shown in its chronological history, are as follows [Order, R.172-773, RE.6-7]:

<u>Date</u>	Type of deed or procedural event	Grantor or interested party	Grantee or interested party
02/02/98	Quitclaim	K. Jones	Denis Joslin 7
12/11/98	Quitclaim	Denis Joslin	Deep Woods ⁸
12/15/98	Deed of trust	Deep Woods	Denis Joslin ⁹
08/26/02	Tax sale for unpaid 2001 tax assessed to	Deep Woods	Wolf Run ¹⁰
08/25/03	Tax sale for unpaid 2002 tax assessed to	Deep Woods	Suresh Shah ¹¹
09/13/04	Clerk's conveyance of land sold for taxes on 08/26/02		Wolf Run ¹²

Complaint, $\P8(p)$, R.5, RE.17.

⁸ Complaint, ¶8(q),R.5, RE.17; APF's Motion, ¶1,R.39, RE.46.

⁹ Complaint, ¶8(r),R.5, RE.17; APF's Motion, ¶2,R.40, RE.47.

¹⁰ APF's Motion, ¶5, R.41, RE.48.

APF's Motion, ¶7, R.41, RE.48.

¹² Complaint, ¶8(s),R.5, RE.5; APF's Motion, ¶6, R.41, RE.48.

10/20/05	Clerk's conveyance of land sold for taxes on 08/25/03	Suresh Shah ¹³	
03/16/06	Quitclaim deed from Suresh Shah	Smith ¹⁴	
03/16/06	Deed of trust from Smith	Suresh Shah ¹⁵	
05/31/07	Complaint to confirm title; No lis pendens recorded	Smith	
05/31-07	Publication		
08/13/07	Quitclaim deed from Deep Woods	APF	
08/13/07	Power of attorney from Deep Woods	APF	
09/04/07	Title Search by APF		
09/18/07	Order allowing 60 additional days for Smith to serve process on Deep Woods and APF, LLC, d/b/a Wolf Run.		
10/10/07	Service of process on Deep Woods		
12/05/07	Clerk's default against Deep Woods and Wolf Run		
01/08/08	Final judgment confirming and quieting title and tax title.		
04/17/08	APF files Motion To Join As Par from the judgment.	ty and for relief	

These findings show that Deep Woods was the owner of the subject property in the year 2002. A tax sale of the subject

Complaint, $\P8(t)$, R.5, RE.17; APF's Motion, $\P8$, R.41, RE.48. The Chancery Court's Order contains a typographical error as to the date of this conveyance: the correct date (October 20) was in the year 2005, not 2004. Smith's Complaint and APF's Motion agree on this point.

¹⁴ Complaint, ¶8(u),R.6,RE.18; APF's Motion, ¶9,R.42, RE.49.

Complaint, ¶8(v), R.6, RE.18; APF's Motion, ¶10, R.42, RE.49.

property for unpaid 2002 taxes on August 25, 2003, led to the issuance on October 20, 2005, of a tax deed to Suresh Shah by the Harrison County Chancery Clerk. On March 16, 2006, Suresh Shah conveyed his interest in the subject property to Smith. Smith filed his complaint on May 31, 2007, but did not record a lis pendens. On August 13, 2007, before the summons and complaint were served on Deep Woods, Deep Woods conveyed its interest in the subject property to APF. APF conducted a title search on September 4, 2007, and found no lis pendens revealing the existence of Smith's complaint to quiet title and tax title.

The Chancery Court found that APF's September 2007 title search should have shown the existence of two tax deeds conveying the subject property to others, one of who was Suresh Shah, and that Smith acquired a quitclaim deed to the subject property from Suresh Shah in March 2006. [Order, ¶11, R. 175, RE.9.] But the Chancery Court then denied APF any opportunity to challenge the validity of the tax deed to Suresh Shah on the grounds set forth in APF's Motion, which were based on the failure to strictly comply with the tax sale statutes, including, inter alia, failure to give proper notice of the tax sale and failure to give proper notice of expiration of the period of redemption pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 27-41-55 et seq. and \$27-43-1\$ et seq.

The Chancery Court found that APF did not conduct a title search of the subject property prior to accepting the deed from [Order, ¶¶7,10, R.174,175, RE.8,9.] This finding Deep Woods. is based on the recital in the deed stating, "title not examined," and on the testimony of Mr. Kalom, a principal of APF and its counsel, that he had prepared the deed and that as of August 13, 2007, no title search had been performed. [Quitclaim Deed to APF, R.79, RE.28; Kalom testimony, Tr. 45, lines 6-11, Tr. 45, lines 18-29 and 46, line 1, RE. 89-90.] However, the Chancery Court never addressed or ruled on the sufficiency or validity of the notice of the tax sale to Suresh Shah conducted on August 25, 2003, or the sufficiency or validity of the notice of expiration οf the period οf redemption.

The Chancery Court also found, based on the testimony of Mr. Kalom, that APF conducted a title search in September of 2007, and that the title search did not show the existence of a lis pendens of record or the existence of Smith's civil action. [Order, ¶10, R. 175, RE.9; Kalom Testimony, Tr. 44, lines 16-18; RE. 88.] But the Chancery Court failed to address the significance of Smith's failure to record a notice of lis pendens, and simply bypassed the issue by holding that no lis pendens was required to be filed since Smith's civil action was founded on two recorded instruments. [Order, ¶11, R. 175-176, RE. 9-10.]

The Chancery Court found that APF failed to discover the existence of Smith's civil action, and failed to adequately research the title to the subject property. [Order, ¶12, R. 176, RE.10.1 The Chancery found that the existence of the tax deeds alone was sufficient to put a reasonably prudent man on notice and necessitate further inquiry. [Order, ¶15, R.177, RE. The Chancery Court concluded that APF was charged with notice of all the facts that would be disclosed by a diligent and careful investigation, and the APF was not a bona fide purchaser without notice. Order, ¶15, R.177, Ignoring the effect of Smith's failure to record a notice of lis pendens, the Chancery Court stated that Smith was under no obligation "to constantly update and/or check the land records subsequent to filing the lawsuit to insure that all interested parties are included." [Order, ¶12, R.176, RE.10.]

Based on these findings, the Chancery Court denied APF's request to be added as a party to the action, and denied APF's request to set aside the default and the judgment in favor of Smith on the ground that APF was not a party and lacked standing to request relief under Rule 60(b). [Order, R.178, RE.12.]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancery Court quoted the words of Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 60, which makes relief from a judgment available to a "party" to an action, and ruled that APF was not a "party" and was not entitled to be joined as a "party." But APF as the owner of the subject property is required to be joined as a necessary party in Smith's action to quiet title, pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 19. Indeed, the Chancery Court is authorized to join APF as a necessary party sua sponte. Entry of the final judgment is not a bar to joining APF as a necessary party, since the judgment effectively took away the property belonging to APF without any notice to APF, or to Deep Woods, the grantor, since service had not been made as of the date the Deep Woods conveyed the subject property to APF.

APF having been joined as a party, relief is available under Rule 60(b). The balancing test weighs overwhelmingly in favor of granting such relief, since the complete absence of notice of Smith's civil action to either APF or to Deep Woods as of the date of the conveyance to APF, precluded APF from having any opportunity to answer the merits of the complaint, or object to the entry of the default and the judgment.

The Chancery Court misapplied the bona fide purchaser for value doctrine. APF is not claiming that it took title to the subject property completely free and clear of the claims by Smith; rather, APF is seeking to assert its right to contest

Smith's claims. Since no service of process was accomplished at the time APF received the property and no lis pendens was filed, the judgment in favor of Smith was awarded without notice. Whether Smith actually has a valid title to the subject property -- the very issue that Smith's Complaint raises -- is a different question than whether Smith's title has been terminated by Deep Woods' deed to APF under the bona fide purchaser for value doctrine. The existence of a previous tax sale only shows the potential of ownership by Smith, since the tax sale process is not valid and complete without strict compliance with the tax sale statute (Miss. Code. Ann. 27-43-1), issues that the Chancery Court did not permit APF to raise.

Aggravating its error, the Chancery Court erroneously believed APF's attorney was also its owner, and improperly imposed a higher standard of care on APF based on the attorney-at-law status of APF's attorney.

The Chancery Court erroneously gave no weight to Smith's failure to record a lis pendens, and erroneously failed to enforce Smith's obligation to insure that all interested parties were named as of the date of entry of the judgment. The Chancery Court's order therefore violated the requirement of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-17-29 that Smith is required to establish validity of his title as of the date of the final hearing and entry of the decree.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A chancery court's interpretation and application of the law are reviewed de novo. Weissinger v. Simpson, 861 So. 2d 984, 987 (Miss. 2003). A chancery court's findings of fact will not be reversed if the record contains substantial evidence supporting those findings. UHS-Qualicare, Inc. v. Gulf Coast Cnty. Hosp., Inc., 525 So. 2d 746, 753 (Miss. 1987) See also Williams v. Duckett (In re Duckett), 991 So. 2d 1165 (Miss. 2008). Application of the balancing test under Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 60(b) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. H & W Transfer & Cartage Service, Inc. v. Griffin, 511 So. 2d 895, 899 (Miss. 1987).

ARGUMENT

A. The Chancery Court was required to join APF as a necessary party to Smith's quiet title action.

APF's Motion expressly requested entry of an order joining APF as a necessary party. The caption of APF's Motion identifies it as a "Motion To ... Add Necessary Third Party Plaintiff," and the first prayer for relief (prayer "A") requests the Chancery Court to "[d]eclare that [APF] is an additional, proper, and necessary third party Plaintiff to the subject proceeding ... and adding same as a party thereto." [APF's Motion, R.39, RE.46 and R.49, RE.56.] The Chancery Court recognized that APF sought to be added as a necessary

party, and specifically denied this request. [Order, $\P9$, $\P16$, R.175, 178, RE.9,12.]

This ruling was erroneous, because Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 19(a), as interpreted by Mississippi appellate decisions, requires that APF be joined as a necessary party. Rule 19 (a) provides:

- (a) Persons to be joined if feasible. A person who is subject to the jurisdiction of the court shall be joined as a party in the action if:
- (1) in his absence complete relief cannot be accorded among those already parties, or
- (2) he claims an interest relating to the subject of the action and is so situated that the disposition of the action in his absence may (i) as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest or (ii) leave any of the persons already parties subject to a substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or otherwise inconsistent obligations by reason of his claimed interest. If he has not been so joined, the court shall order that he be made a party. If he should join as a plaintiff but refuses to do so, he may be made a defendant or, in a proper case, an involuntary plaintiff.

Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 19(a).

Deep Woods, as the owner of the subject property at the time of the tax sale to Suresh Shah, was entitled to challenge the validity of the tax sale, and to show that the sale was void as the result of deviation from the procedures mandated by Miss. Code §§ 27-43-1 et seq. "Statutes dealing with land forfeitures for delinquent taxes should be strictly construed in favor of the landowners. . . . Any deviation from the statutorily mandated procedure renders the sale void." Roach

v. Gobel, 8565 So.2d 711, 716 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). See also Hammet v. Johnson, 624 So. 2d 58, 60 (Miss. 1993) ("the tax deed issued pursuant to this defective process is void.")

Deep Woods could raise these claims and defenses in the action to quiet tax title brought by Smith, who relied completely upon the deed from Suresh Shah. As Smith's Complaint allege, "Suresh Shah ... conveyed the subject property to Lloyd A. Smith ... [and] in connection with the ... tax sale to Suresh Shah, all things required to be done ... were in fact done ... and title to the subject property became vested in Suresh Shah." [Complaint, ¶¶8(u) and 10, R.6, RE.18.] If Surseh Shah's tax title deed was void, then Smith stood in no better position.

APF acquired all those claims and defenses from Deep Woods, by means of the quitclaim deed and assignment of rights executed by Deep Woods on August 13, 2007. Specifically, APF acquired the right to redeem the subject property by showing that the tax deed to Suresh Shah was void. Equity Services Company v. Mississippi State Highway Commission, 192 So. 2d 431 (Miss. 1966) see also Hammet v. Johnson, supra.

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