## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMERICAN PUBLIC FINANCE, INCORPORATED

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

LLOYD A. SMITH

**APPELLEE** 

SUPREME COURT DOCKET NO. 2009-CA-00608

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, LLOYD A. SMITH

**ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED** 

## **ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE:**

G. Martin Warren, Jr., Miss. Bar No.
Law Offices of G. Martin Warren, Jr., PLLC
Post Office Box 37
Gulfport, Mississippi 39502
Telephone - 228/897-9976
Fax- 228/897-9976

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMERICAN PUBLIC FINANCE, INCORPORATED

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

LLOYD A. SMITH

**APPELLEE**

## **REASONS FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

The Appellee, Lloyd A. Smith, pursuant to Rule 34(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure, submits that oral argument of this appeal will be helpful to the court. The statutory title confirmation requirements applicable to this case, including those involving joinder of parties, are distinguishable from other cases where joinder of parties was allowed or mandated. In addition, the unique facts of this case are distinguishable from other cases where joinder of parties was allowed or mandated.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 1

The Appellant, American Public Finance, Incorporated ("APF"), is requesting that this Court reverse the Chancellor's Order Denying Motion to Add Third Party, allow it to be added as a necessary party to concluded litigation, and set aside the Final Judgment Confirming and Quieting Tax Title and Confirming and Quieting Title.

However, the Appellee/Plaintiff, Lioyd A. Smith ("Smith"), would submit that (1) the Complaint brought all necessary parties required by statute before the Court; (2) APF, as a successor in title to Deep Woods Investment Company, L.L.C. ("Deep Woods"), is bound by the judgment rendered against Deep Woods; (3) APF cannot be added as a necessary party to litigation that is properly concluded; (4) APF does not have standing to bring a Rule 60(b) motion to set aside; and (5) APF has no grounds to rely on the lis pendens statute.

APF obtained a Quitclaim Deed from Deep Woods on August 13, 2007, recorded on August 27, 2007, with the deed indicating that no title examination was performed. A cursory review of the land records in the Harrison County Chancery Clerk's Office at those times would have shown that:

- (1) subsequent to Deep Woods acquiring an interest in the subject property in 1998, two tax deeds conveyed the subject property to others in 2004 and 2005, and
- (2) the Plaintiff, Lloyd A. Smith, acquired a Quitclaim Deed to the subject property and granted a Deed of Trust in the sum of \$100,000 to Suresh Shah in March 2006.

APF's claims are without merit. The Plaintiff, Lloyd A. Smith, respectfully requests that the Chancery Court's Order Denying Motion to Add Third Party be affirmed.

In this brief, the following abbreviations are used: C.P. for Clerk's Papers, Supp. C.P. for Supplemental Clerk's Papers (supplemental volume), and T. for Transcript.

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. Whether the Chancery Court erred in refusing to join appellant American Public Finance, Inc. ("APF") as a necessary party, pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 19, in the civil action by appellee Lloyd A. Smith ("Smith") to confirm and quiet tax title and title to the subject property, where APF acquired title to the subject property after the action had been commenced.

The Plaintiff submits that his legal obligation is to "set forth in his complaint . . . all persons interested in the land," Mississippi Code Section 11-17-1, not to set forth persons who attempt to obtain an interest in the subject property after the complaint to confirm tax title is filed. Mississippi law provides in part as follows:

11-17-1. Confirming and quieting tax title.

Any person holding or claiming under a tax title lands heretofore or hereafter sold for taxes, when the period of redemption has expired, may proceed by sworn *complaint* in the chancery court to have such title confirmed and quieted, and *shall set forth in his complaint* his claim under the tax sale, and the *names and places of residence of all persons interested in the land*, so far as known to plaintiff, or as he can ascertain by diligent inquiry. . . Such suits shall be proceeded with as other cases; and if the complaints be taken for confessed, or if it appear that plaintiff is entitled to a judgment, it shall be rendered, confirming the tax title against all persons claiming to hold the land by title existing at the time of the sale for taxes. Such judgment shall vest in the plaintiff, without any conveyance by a master or commissioner, a good and sufficient title to said land; and such judgment shall, in all courts of this state, be held as conclusive evidence that the title to said land was vested in the plaintiff, as against all persons claiming the same under the title existing prior to the sale for taxes. (Emphasis added).

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-17-1 (1972).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated that "[t]he purpose of this statute providing for the confirmation of a tax title, is that by such a proceeding any further litigation between the same parties, or their successors in title, as to the validity of the tax title, shall be precluded." Hatten v. Jones, 67 So. 2d 363, 365 (Miss. 1953) (emphasis added). In an earlier case, the Mississippi Supreme Court had similarly stated that "[t]he purpose of the

suit to confirm the tax title is not only to settle contentions between the main parties, but is to make the tax title a good and perfect title against all persons whatsoever, so that there may be no further litigation concerning the validity of the tax title." *Lamar Life Ins. Co. v. Billups*, 175 Miss. 771, 783, 169 So. 32 (1936). The Florida Supreme Court has also weighed in on this issue, stating that "[t]he purchaser of the land and the assignments of the judgments all occurred pendente lite. If [the purchaser], under the circumstances, is entitled to appear as a party defendant, then any assignee of his would be entitled to appear and the litigation could be protracted without end." *Minge v. Davidson*, 94 Fla. 1197, 1200, 115 So. 510 (1928).

In addition, it should be pointed out that APF is bound by the actions, or inactions, of Deep Woods, its predecessor in title. *See Marathon Asset Mgt., LLC v. Otto*, 977 So. 2d 1241, 1246 (Miss. App. 2008) (owner's knowledge of foreclosure sale and possibility of redemption period extension is imputed to successor in interest); *Jenkins v. Terry Investments, LLC*, 947 So. 2d 972, 978 (Miss. App. 2006) (successors in interests are in privity for purposes of res judicata). As pointed out by the Chancellor in paragraph 8 of the Order Denying Motion to Add Third Party, although proper service was made on Deep Woods, no evidence was presented as to whether Deep Woods informed APF of the suit, and an entry of default was taken against Deep Woods prior to Judgment. (C.P. pp. 171-78).

Pursuant to the above statute, the Final Judgment entered in this matter on January 8, 2008 confirmed the tax title "against all persons claiming to hold the land by title existing at the time of the sale for taxes." Such judgment is "conclusive evidence that the title to said land was vested in the plaintiff, as against all persons claiming the same under the title

existing prior to the sale for taxes." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-17-1 (1972).

APF's claim to title to the subject property is through Deep Woods. However, Deep Woods, a Defendant in this litigation, has no title in the subject property, as any such title existing "at the time of the sale for taxes" was foreclosed by the Final Judgment rendered in the litigation. As such, APF has no interest to obtain through Deep Woods. Pursuant to the above law, any further litigation on this issue must be precluded.

In addition, APF attempts to place a duty on the Plaintiff to continually update the title subsequent to the filing of the Complaint. However, APF has cited no authority for this proposition. In fact, § 11-17-1 of the Mississippi Code states that title confirmation actions act as conclusive evidence "against all persons claiming the same under the title existing prior to the sale for taxes." Mississippi law does not place such duty on the Plaintiff.

Furthermore, APF asks this Court to gloss over Rule 25 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, which addresses "Substitution of Parties". Rule 25(c) states as follows:

(c) Transfer of Interest. In case of any transfer of interest, the action may be continued by or against the original party, unless the court upon motion directs the person to whom the interest is transferred be substituted in the action or joined with the original party. Service of the motion shall be made as provided in subdivision (a) of this rule.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 25(c).

The Comment to Rule 25 states in part as follows:

The most significant feature of Rule 25(c) is that it does not require that any action be taken after an interest has been transferred; the action may be continued by or against the original party and the judgment will be binding on his successor in interest even though he is not named. An order of joinder in such a situation is merely a discretionary determination by the trial court that the transferee's presence would facilitate the conduct of the litigation.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 25, Comment.

As set out by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *TXG Intrastate Pipeline Company v. Grossnickle*, 716 So. 2d 991 (Miss. 1997), a case involving determination of ownership of gas well interests, Rule 19 and Rule 25(c) "are to be viewed together, and not as one trumping the other." *Id.* at 1023. Smith would also submit to the Court that when a tax title action is involved, its statutory requirements should be added to such consideration.

Rule 25(c), when read in conjunction with Mississippi Code Section 11-17-1, mandates a finding that Smith brought his Complaint pursuant to the requirements of applicable law, and that a transfer of interest by Deep Woods subsequent to the filing of the Complaint does not require that APF be made a party in the instant case.

APF, in an attempt to support its argument that it is entitled to be joined in this concluded litigation, cites several cases which apply Rule 19 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure to effect joinder. However, those cases are not analogous to the case at bar.

In *Aldridge v. Aldridge*, 527 So. 2d 96 (Miss. 1988), the court required that purchasers of property who received a warranty deed after litigation was commenced, along with their lienholder, should be joined in the suit. *Id.* at 100. However, *Aldridge* involved a contempt proceeding following a divorce (not a statutory title confirmation suit), a warranty deed (not a quitclaim deed), and the purchasers were deemed to be bona fide purchasers (APF is not a bona fide purchaser). *Id.* at 98-100. The *Aldridge* case provides no support for APF's argument.

In *Johnson v. Weston Lumber & Building Supply Company*, 566 So. 2d 466 (Miss. 1990), the court set aside a judgment for the defendant under Rule 60 and also ordered that a purchaser of plaintiff's property be added as a necessary party. *Id.* at 469.

However, this case involved a complaint to set aside an easement (not a statutory title confirmation suit), and the focus of the case was on the lack of notice to the plaintiff of the trial setting. *Id.* at 466-67. Furthermore, during the pendency of the case, the party to be added purchased the property *from the plaintiff*, facts certainly not analogous to the case at bar. The *Johnson* case is not on point here.

In Ladner v. Quality Exploration Company, 505 So. 2d 288 (Miss. 1987), the court ruled, in a claim involving a surface trespass, that all of the owners of the mineral interests should be joined as necessary parties under Rule 19. *Id.* at 291. However, this case did not involve a statutory title confirmation suit. More importantly, it appears the non-joined owners were record title owners at the time of the filing of the suit. *Id.* at 289.

In summary, these cases cited by APF do not support its position, as they do not involve the statutes at issue, Mississippi Code Section 11-17-1, *et seq.*, and do not contain the same facts. In addition, the reason for Smith's repeated references above that none of these cases involve title confirmation actions is that the title confirmation statutes set forth specific joinder requirements. Smith complied with those statutory requirements.

B. Whether the Chancery Court erred in refusing to grant APF relief, pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. Rule 60(b), by setting aside the judgment entered in favor of Smith.

Initially, the Plaintiff respectfully submits to the Court that APF has no standing to pursue a Motion to Set Aside pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 60(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure states in part as follows:

b) Mistakes; Inadvertence; Newly Discovered Evidence; Fraud, etc. On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding . . . . (Emphasis added).

Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b).

As APF was not a named party to the underlying litigation, it is not a "party or his legal representative," and has no standing to bring such a motion. The motion should be dismissed on these grounds.

In addition, in ruling on a 60(b) motion "a balance must be struck between granting a litigant a hearing on the merits with the need and desire to achieve finality in litigation." *Trilogy Communications, Inc. v. Thomas Truck Lease, Inc.*, 733 So. 2d 313, 316 (Miss. App. 1998). Rule 60(b) motions should be denied where they are merely an attempt to relitigate the case. *Id.* Furthermore, Rule 60(b) provides for extra ordinary relief to be granted only upon a showing of exceptional circumstances, and not because *a party* is unhappy with the judgment. *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Plaintiff would also submit that insofar as APF is requesting that the Court add it as a necessary party, such remedy is not available to APF, as this litigation was concluded on January 8, 2008 and its motion was not brought until April 17, 2008, well after the Judgment became final (February 7, 2008).

- C. Whether the Chancery Court erred in applying the doctrine of bona fide purchaser for value as the basis for its ruling that APF was not entitled to be joined as a party and not entitled to have the judgment in favor of Smith set aside.
- D. Whether the Chancery Court erred by failing to give proper weight to Smith's failure to record a notice of lis pendens, and by failing to follow the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-17-29.

As both of these issues raised by APF are related and involve the filing of a notice of lis pendens, Lloyd Smith will address them together.

Mississippi Code Section 11-47-3, which addresses Lis Pendens, requires that a lis pendens notice be filed as follows:

When any person shall begin a suit in any court, whether by declaration or bill, or by cross-complaint, to enforce a lien upon, right to, or interest in, any real estate, *unless* the claim be founded upon an instrument which is recorded, or upon a judgment duly enrolled, in the county in which the real estate is situated, such person shall file with the clerk of the chancery court . . . . (Emphasis added).

Miss. Code. Ann. § 11-47-3 (1972).

In this matter, the Plaintiff's Complaint to Confirm and Quiet Tax Title and to Confirm and Quiet Title was founded upon both the *recorded* Tax Deed to Suresh Shah and the *recorded* Quitclaim Deed from Suresh Shah to Lloyd Smith. Therefore, Plaintiff's claim in this matter was founded upon "instruments which were recorded." APF's lis pendens argument is without merit.

In addition, the Quitclaim Deed from Deep Woods to APF, which is the basis of APF's claims in this matter, and which was drafted by APF's owner/counsel, clearly states that "TITLE NOT EXAMINED - NO SURVEY PROVIDED". (Supp. C.P. pp. 40-44). This fact was confirmed by Mr. Kalom in his testimony at the hearing on APF's motion, although he testified a title search was conducted on or about September 4, 2007, approximately

three weeks after APF obtained its deed and approximately one week after it was recorded. (T. pp. 44-46). Obviously, if the title was not examined prior to the receipt and recording of the deed, the filing of a lis pendens notice has no relevance here, as such notice would not have been found by APF prior to it obtaining a Quitclaim Deed from Deep Woods. Furthermore, if APF had examined the title, it would have learned (if it did not already know) that subsequent to Deep Woods acquiring the subject property in 1998, two tax deeds had been conveyed, Mr. Smith had obtained a Quitclaim Deed from Mr. Shah, and Mr. Smith had granted a \$100,000 Deed of Trust to Mr. Shah. Therefore, for APF to argue that a lis pendens notice was required and that such a notice would have alerted it to the pending suit is disingenuous.

Furthermore, even if a lis pendens notice had been necessary, the failure to file such notice only protects "the rights of bona fide purchasers or incumbrancers of such real estate . . . ." Miss. Code Ann. § 11-47-9 (1972). Mississippi law is quite clear that without examining the land records, APF cannot claim to be a bona fide purchaser. The Mississippi courts have stated as follows:

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